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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO



LEX CLAIMS, LLC, et al., Plaintiffs, v. ALEJANDRO GARCÍA PADILLA, et al.,



Case No. 3:16-cv-02374 (FAB)



Defendants.



@



PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND AND FOR PARTIAL RELIEF FROM THE PROMESA STAY



aw dl ud m



Plaintiffs Lex Claims, LLC, Jacana Holdings I LLC, Jacana Holdings II LLC, Jacana Holdings III LLC, Jacana Holdings IV LLC, Jacana Holdings V LLC, MPR Investors LLC, ROLSG, LLC, RRW I LLC, and SL Puerto Rico Fund II, L.P. respectfully submit this motion for leave to amend their complaint and for partial relief from the stay imposed on certain creditor litigation by the Puerto Rico Oversight, Management, and Economic Stability Act, Pub. L. 114187 (“PROMESA”).



As described more fully below, plaintiffs seek leave to augment their existing claims, primarily in order to challenge the Commonwealth’s ongoing diversion of funds to the Puerto Rico Sales Tax Financing Corporation (also known by its acronym in Spanish, “COFINA”). These funds—which purportedly have been diverted by statute to the payment of bonds issued by COFINA—constitute “available resources” within the meaning of Article VI, Section 8 of the Puerto Rico Constitution, which must be devoted to payment of the Commonwealth’s public debt before they may be used for other purposes. The Commonwealth, however, has chosen to
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continue to divert hundreds of millions of dollars to COFINA bondholders even though the Commonwealth’s public debt remains unpaid.



This inversion of the Commonwealth’s



constitutional creditor priority and violation of the constitutionally guaranteed security for public debt violates PROMESA. For the reasons set forth below, the Court should authorize the filing of plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, on the understanding that, absent further order from this Court, plaintiffs will prosecute only their First, Second, Third, and Twelfth Causes of Action. As an initial matter, plaintiffs’ motion for leave to amend, which



@



comes at an early stage of these proceedings, poses no risk of prejudice to the defendants. Granting leave to amend here is thus amply supported by the rule that “[t]he court should freely



aw dl ud m



give leave when justice so requires.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2).



As for PROMESA’s stay provision, plaintiffs’ First, Second, Third, and Twelfth Causes of Action are not subject to the stay, and relief from the stay is not necessary to the extent plaintiffs seek to file and pursue these claims.1 The Second Amended Complaint’s First Cause of Action simply carries forward plaintiffs’ existing cause of action, which this Court has already ruled is not subject to the PROMESA stay because it seeks relief for violations of PROMESA itself, and thus could not have been commenced prior to the statute’s enactment, and because it does not seek to require payment on the bonds owned by plaintiffs. See Dkt. 32, at 2-3. The Second and Third Causes of Action are not subject to the PROMESA stay for precisely the same reasons—they arise under PROMESA and do not seek payment. The relief plaintiffs seek on



1



Plaintiffs seek to pursue their Twelfth Cause of Action, under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, only to the extent that the Twelfth Cause of Action rests on the underlying violations of Sections 204(c)(3), 207, 303(1), and 303(3) of PROMESA that form the basis of their First, Second, and Third Causes of Action.
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these claims—namely, preventing the Commonwealth from siphoning assets away from the Constitutional Debt—accordingly does not implicate the PROMESA stay. Plaintiffs’ remaining claims are subject to the PROMESA stay because they could have been commenced prior to PROMESA’s enactment. Plaintiffs do not, however, seek permission to pursue these claims to judgment at this time.



Instead, plaintiffs seek relief from the



PROMESA stay only to file a complaint containing these causes of action, in order to avoid any possible argument that claim preclusion principles would bar these claims in the future. Because plaintiffs do not seek leave to prosecute these claims at this time, the filing of the proposed



@



Second Amended Complaint would not occasion any cognizable harm to the Commonwealth. Plaintiffs have accordingly demonstrated “cause” to lift the PROMESA stay for the purpose of



aw dl ud m



filing the Second Amended Complaint. PROMESA § 405(e)(2). BACKGROUND



1. Plaintiffs are beneficial owners of a substantial amount of bonds that are issued or guaranteed by the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and are both backed by a pledge of its full faith, credit, and taxing power and secured by a first claim on all the Commonwealth’s available resources (“Constitutional Debt”). Dkt. 25 (“Am. Compl.”) ¶¶ 3, 11. These bonds—alone among all obligations of the Commonwealth and its public corporations, instrumentalities, and municipalities—constitute “public debt” within the meaning of Article VI, Section 8 of the Puerto Rico Constitution. That provision states that, if Puerto Rico’s “available resources” are insufficient to meet all of its desired spending, “interest on the public debt and amortization thereof shall first be paid, and other disbursements shall thereafter be made in accordance with the order of priorities established by law.” P.R. Const. art. VI, § 8 (emphasis added). The
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Constitutional Debt thus enjoys an explicit constitutional lien on, and first priority claim to, all of the Commonwealth’s available resources. Plaintiffs filed this action on July 20, 2016, to enforce PROMESA’s limitations on the Commonwealth’s efforts to enact unlawful new measures in the interim period before the Oversight Board established by PROMESA is fully operational. See Dkt. 1. As alleged in the currently operative complaint (the First Amended Complaint, filed on August 15, 2016), the Commonwealth has openly and brazenly violated two critical protections imposed by PROMESA for the benefit of Puerto Rico’s creditors: Section 204(c)(3), which prohibits the



@



Commonwealth from “enact[ing] new laws that either permit the transfer of any funds or assets outside the ordinary course of business or that are inconsistent with the constitution or laws of



aw dl ud m



the territory as of the date of enactment of this Act” during the period between PROMESA’s enactment and “the appointment of all members and the Chair of the Oversight Board,” PROMESA § 204(c)(3)(A), and Section 207, which provides that Puerto Rico may not “issue debt or guarantee, exchange, modify, repurchase, redeem, or enter into similar transactions with respect to its debt,” without first obtaining “the prior approval of the Oversight Board.” PROMESA § 207.



The Commonwealth has chosen to violate these provisions by, among other things, making massive, extraordinary transfers and authorizing the assumption and restructuring of billions of dollars in debt payable to the Commonwealth’s insolvent Government Development Bank (“GDB”), all of which follow Commonwealth officials’ political preferences rather than the law. See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 47-63. Plaintiffs’ current complaint challenges these violations of PROMESA, seeking a declaration that the Commonwealth’s actions are unlawful and limited
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injunctive relief to preserve the status quo until the Oversight Board is fully operational and in a position to take action with respect to these violations. See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 64-73. 2. On August 22, 2016, defendants filed a “notice of automatic stay” asserting that this action is subject to the stay on certain creditor litigation imposed by PROMESA. Dkt. 26. At this Court’s direction, plaintiffs filed a response to that notice on August 25, 2016. Dkt. 28. On September 2, 2016, this Court entered an order holding that PROMESA’s stay does not apply to this action. Dkt. 32. First, the Court concluded that “[p]laintiffs could not have commenced this lawsuit before PROMESA’s enactment because their claims are to enforce provisions of



@



PROMESA by challenging conduct that occurred after PROMESA’s enactment.” Id. at 2. Second, the Court concluded that plaintiffs’ lawsuit was not an action “to recover a Liability
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Claim against the Government of Puerto Rico that arose before the enactment of [PROMESA],” PROMESA § 405(b)(1), because “plaintiffs seek only declaratory and injunctive relief” and thus “do not seek to recover a right to payment that arose before PROMESA’s enactment.” Dkt. 32, at 3.



Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the First Amended Complaint on September 2, 2016 (Dkt. 33), and a motion for reconsideration of this Court’s order regarding the PROMESA stay on September 7, 2016 (Dkt. 34).



On September 30, 2016, plaintiffs filed a consolidated



opposition to those motions. See Dkt. 37. Defendants’ motions remain pending as of the filing of this motion. 3. In the weeks since plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint was filed, two additional facts have become increasingly clear. First, it is now clear that there is likely to be an extended delay before the Oversight Board will be in a position to begin its task of bringing order to Puerto Rico’s chaotic, mismanaged, and opaque financial situation. Although the President appointed
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the Members of the Control Board on August 31, 2016, staffing and equipping the Board to the point where it is fully operational is a substantial and time-consuming process. Indeed, it was just last week—three months after PROMESA’s enactment—that the Board designated a chair. It must now embark upon a search process for an Executive Director, and then identify and retain legal and financial advisors to begin wading through a complex web of information (that is, to the extent timely and accurate information is even available).



This Court recently heard



testimony that we are likely six months away from the Oversight Board’s being in a position even to begin meaningful negotiations with creditors. See 9/22/2016 Hearing Tr. in Nos. 16-CV-



@



1610, 16-CV-2101, 16-CV-2257, 16-CV-2510, at pp. 207-210. Second, it is also now evident that—left to its own devices—the Commonwealth will
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continue to divert hundreds of millions of dollars to the payment of bonds issued by COFINA. As explained in further detail in the proposed Second Amended Complaint, since its creation in 2007, COFINA has issued massive amounts of debt—more than $17.2 billion of which is currently outstanding—through a structure designed to evade provisions in the Puerto Rico Constitution applicable to the Commonwealth’s public debt, including constitutional limitations on the quantity of public debt that the Commonwealth is permitted to issue. See Ex. 1 ¶ 96. Bonds issued by COFINA purport to be backed by a legislative assignment of a portion of the revenues received from collection of the Commonwealth’s general sales and use tax (“SUT”). See Ex. 1 ¶¶ 16, 95-101. Governor García Padilla issued Executive Order 2016-30 immediately after PROMESA was signed into law. See Ex. 1 ¶ 9. Relying on the Puerto Rico Emergency Moratorium and Financial Rehabilitation Act, No. 21-2016 (the “Moratorium Act”), Executive Order 2016-30 declared a moratorium on payments to holders of the Constitutional Debt. See Ex. 1 ¶¶ 17-18, 107-110. The Executive Order, however, does not halt the diversion
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of revenues received from collection of the Commonwealth’s SUT. To the contrary, because of the Executive Order’s failure to suspend such diversions, approximately $119 million was diverted to COFINA in July 2016, approximately $121 million was diverted to COFINA in August 2016, and millions more have likely been diverted since then. See Ex. 1 ¶ 92. These transfers will continue unabated until accounts earmarked for payment of the COFINA bonds hold funds sufficient to make the next two major semiannual payments on those bonds (on February 1, 2017, and August 1, 2017). The legislation creating COFINA, known as Act No. 56-2007, purports to exclude the



@



SUT revenues assigned to COFINA from the Constitutional Debt’s constitutional lien and first priority claim by declaring that they shall not “constitute resources available to the



aw dl ud m



Commonwealth of Puerto Rico.” 13 L.P.R.A. § 12. The SUT, however, is a general sales and use tax of the sort that is imposed by and would typically be paid to the Commonwealth government.



Revenues arising from collection of the Commonwealth’s SUT are thus a



quintessential example of “available resources” for purposes of Article VI, Section 8 of the Puerto Rico Constitution, and their constitutional status as such cannot be eliminated by mere legislative proclamation. See Ex. 1 ¶¶ 103-105.



Because the portion of the SUT revenues assigned to COFINA remains “available resources,” Executive Order 2016-30 turns the Commonwealth’s constitutionally mandated hierarchy of creditors on its head: It declares a moratorium on payment of the Constitutional Debt, which enjoys a constitutional lien on and first-priority claim to all available resources, but permits the continued diversion of SUT revenues to holders of bonds issued by COFINA. As explained in more detail in the proposed Second Amended Complaint, Executive Order 2016-30 is therefore preempted by Section 303(3) of PROMESA, which states that “unlawful executive
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orders that alter, amend, or modify rights of holders of any debt of the territory or territorial instrumentality . . . shall be preempted by this Act.” PROMESA § 303(3). Executive Order 2016-30 is unlawful because the diverted revenues (among others) are available resources under Article VI, Section 8 of the Puerto Rico Constitution, which must be devoted to payment of the Constitutional Debt before the Commonwealth may use them for any other purpose. And Executive Order 2016-30 alters and modifies the rights of plaintiffs by subordinating the rights of holders of Constitutional Debt to COFINA bondholders while the Constitutional Debt is in default. See Ex. 1 ¶¶ 108-111.



@



Accordingly, in their proposed Second Amended Complaint, in addition to raising plaintiffs’ existing claim under Section 204(c)(3) and Section 207 of PROMESA (now contained
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in the Second Amended Complaint’s First Cause of Action), plaintiffs seek to challenge Governor García Padilla’s unlawful Executive Order 2016-30 (and the Moratorium Act pursuant to which it was issued) on additional grounds. Plaintiffs’ Second Cause of Action alleges that, insofar as the Executive Order unlawfully subordinates the rights of holders of Constitutional Debt to the rights of COFINA bondholders, it is preempted by Section 303(3) of PROMESA. See Ex. 1 ¶¶ 136-145. Plaintiffs’ Third Cause of Action further alleges that the Moratorium Act is preempted by Section 303(1) of PROMESA, which provides that “a territory law prescribing a method of composition of indebtedness or a moratorium law, but solely to the extent that it prohibits the payment of principal or interest . . . may not bind any creditor of a covered territory or any covered territorial instrumentality thereof that does not consent to the composition or moratorium.” PROMESA § 303(1); see Ex. 1 ¶¶ 146-151. Plaintiffs’ remaining substantive causes of action—viz., their Fourth through Eleventh Causes of Action, which plaintiffs seek leave to file but not to pursue further at this time—allege that the Moratorium Act is
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unconstitutional under both the United States Constitution and the Puerto Rico Constitution, see Ex. 1 ¶¶ 152-158, 164-191; that all revenues collected pursuant to the SUT remain “available resources,” notwithstanding Act No. 56-2007’s contrary legislative declaration, see Ex. 1 ¶¶ 152158; and that, if given effect, Act No. 56-2007’s purported diversion of revenues arising from the Commonwealth’s SUT would violate Article VI, Section 2 of the Puerto Rico Constitution, which provides that “[t]he power of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico to impose and collect taxes and to authorize their imposition and collection by municipalities shall be exercised as determined by the Legislative Assembly and shall never be surrendered or suspended.” P.R.



@



Const. art. VI, § 2; see Ex. 1 ¶ 159-163. Plaintiffs’ Twelfth Cause of Action seeks relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for the above-described violations of federal law, see Ex. 1 ¶¶ 192-194, and
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their Thirteenth Cause of Action is a procedural request for relief from the PROMESA stay, see Ex. 1 ¶¶ 195-200.



As with plaintiffs’ prior complaints, the relief that plaintiffs have elected to pursue immediately upon the filing of the Second Amended Complaint would not require payment on plaintiffs’ bonds. Instead, plaintiffs seek only declarations that the Commonwealth’s conduct is unlawful and limited injunctive relief preventing prospective enforcement and implementation of the Commonwealth’s unlawful actions. See Ex. 1, Prayer for Relief § I. With respect to COFINA, plaintiffs seek an order preventing the Commonwealth from continuing to divert SUT revenues to COFINA bondholders and requiring that such funds be segregated and preserved, but plaintiffs do not (at this time) seek an order directing that these funds be used to pay the Constitutional Debt. See Ex. 1, Prayer for Relief § I.F.
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ARGUMENT I.



Plaintiffs Should Be Granted Leave To File The Second Amended Complaint Because plaintiffs’ request for leave to file the Second Amended Complaint comes before



this Court has set a deadline for filing amended pleadings, it is subject to the forgiving standard imposed by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(b), which provides that “[t]he court should freely give leave when justice so requires.” See, e.g., Trans-Spec Truck Serv., Inc. v. Caterpillar Inc., 524 F.3d 315, 327 (1st Cir. 2008); Flores-Silva v. McClintock–Hernandez, 710 F.3d 1, 3 (1st Cir. 2013). As this Court has recognized, Rule 15(b) creates a presumption in favor of allowing



@



amendment, and “if a court decides not to allow the amendment, it must do so for a valid reason ‘such as undue delay, . . . undue prejudice to the opposing party by virtue of allowance of the



aw dl ud m



amendment, futility of amendment, etc.’” Hernandez v. Colegio y Noviciado Santa Maria Del Camino, Inc., 296 F.R.D. 60, 62 (D.P.R. 2013) (Besosa, J.) (quoting Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962)) (alteration in original).



No such factors counsel against granting leave to amend here. Plaintiffs have not unduly delayed in bringing the claims alleged in the proposed Second Amended Complaint. To the contrary, it is only now clear that appointment of the Members of the Oversight Board on August 31, 2016, apparently will have no effect on the Commonwealth’s unlawful diversion of available resources to COFINA. Moreover, it is also now clear that there is likely to be a prolonged delay before the Oversight Board is in a position to adopt a fiscal plan that would end the diversion of funds to COFINA. See pp. 5-6, supra.2



2



The Oversight Board will never be in a position to adjudicate the lawfulness of the Commonwealth’s diversion of SUT revenues to COFINA bondholders under PROMESA and the Puerto Rico Constitution. That task, of course, is firmly committed to the judiciary. See Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. (1 Cranch) 137, 177 (1803). As a practical matter, however, the
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And because this litigation remains in its early stages, there is no prospect that the defendants will be prejudiced by the filing of an amended complaint.



This case has not



proceeded past briefing on defendants’ motion to dismiss the First Amended Complaint, and no discovery has taken place.



The Court should accordingly grant leave to file the Second



Amended Complaint, as it has routinely done in other cases when leave is requested at similarly early stages of the proceedings (or even after significantly more time has elapsed since the filing of the action). See, e.g., Santiago v. WHM Carib, LLC, 126 F. Supp. 3d 211, 214 (D.P.R. 2015) (permitting the filing of a second amended complaint after finding that “[t]he proposed



@



amendments cannot be deemed unduly prejudicial” in part because “they were not proposed late enough so that Defendants would be required to engage in significant new preparation,” and
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“discovery was barely getting started”); Caraballo v. Puerto Rico, 990 F. Supp. 3d 165, 177 n.7 (D.P.R. 2014) (granting leave to file a second amended complaint “in light of the early stage of the proceedings,” where request was filed after plaintiffs had filed their response in opposition to defendants’ motion to dismiss); Kolker v. Hurwitz, 269 F.R.D. 119, 125 (D.P.R. 2010) (granting leave to file a second amended complaint after defendants had filed a motion to dismiss).



Oversight Board could address the consequences of COFINA’s unlawful structure by approving a fiscal plan that would end the Commonwealth’s diversion of funds to COFINA. See PROMESA §§ 201-204. As we have explained above, it now appears that there will be a significant number of months before the Oversight Board is in a position to take such a step. Even in the unlikely event that the Oversight Board does not take such a step in its fiscal plan, it would remain for the judiciary to determine whether the diversion of tax revenues to COFINA violates the laws and Constitution of Puerto Rico. That is because PROMESA requires that any fiscal plan respect the “relative lawful priorities or lawful liens, as may be applicable, in the constitution, other laws, or agreements of a covered territory or covered territorial instrumentality in effect prior to the date of enactment of this Act.” PROMESA § 201(b)(1)(N) (emphasis added). Thus, it will ultimately fall to the judiciary to determine the legality of COFINA’s structure.
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II.



Relief From The PROMESA Stay Is Warranted Plaintiffs seek relief from the PROMESA stay to file their Second Amended Complaint,



because certain—but not all—of the claims therein require relief from the stay. To be clear, however, plaintiffs presently seek to prosecute only four claims contained therein, none of which is subject to the PROMESA stay: 



The First Cause of Action, which alleges that the Commonwealth’s post-PROMESA enactments violate Section 204(c)(3) and Section 207 of PROMESA, and simply restates the claims that this Court has already ruled are not stayed by PROMESA.



@



See Dkt. 32. 



The Second Cause of Action, which alleges that Executive Order 2016-30 is



aw dl ud m



preempted by Section 303(3) of PROMESA because it unlawfully subordinates the rights of holders of the Constitutional Debt to the rights of COFINA bondholders. 



The Third Cause of Action, which alleges that the Commonwealth’s Moratorium Law (which provided the purported legal basis for Executive Order 2016-30) is preempted by Section 303(1) of PROMESA.







The Twelfth Cause of Action, which seeks relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, insofar as it is based on the Commonwealth’s violations of Section 204(c)(3), 207, 303(1), and 303(3) of PROMESA.



Standing alone, none of these claims are subject to the PROMESA stay. As this Court has already recognized, plaintiffs’ First Cause of Action could not have been “commenced before the enactment of PROMESA” (PROMESA § 405(b)(1)), because it seeks relief for a violation of PROMESA itself, and it does not seek to “recover on a Liability Claim” (ibid.), because “plaintiffs seek only declaratory and injunctive relief.” Dkt. 32, at 3. The Second and
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Third Causes of Action follow precisely the same pattern:



They both allege that the



Commonwealth’s actions violate PROMESA, and thus could not have been brought prior to PROMESA’s enactment, and both claims seek only declaratory and injunctive relief. Rather than seeking to compel payment on their bonds, plaintiffs seek only to declare invalid and enjoin the Commonwealth’s ongoing dissipation of its assets. See Ex. 1 Prayer for Relief, § I. And plaintiffs’ Twelfth Cause of Action, under Section 1983, is not subject to the stay insofar as it rests on the same violations of federal law. See Dkt. 32, at 3 (concluding that any monetary liability under Section 1983 “did not arise before PROMESA’s enactment because plaintiffs



@



brought this action after PROMESA’s enactment”). Accordingly, the four claims plaintiffs seek to pursue at this time are not subject to the PROMESA stay, and plaintiffs are entitled to pursue
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these claims without relief from the stay.



Plaintiffs’ remaining substantive claims allege various challenges under the United States and Puerto Rico Constitutions to the COFINA structure and to the Moratorium Act. See Ex. 1 ¶¶ 152-191. These claims are subject to the PROMESA stay because they could have been brought prior to PROMESA’s enactment. See PROMESA § 405(b)(1). Plaintiffs seek leave, however, only to file a complaint containing these claims; plaintiffs do not seek leave to pursue these claims further without further order from this Court.3 These additional claims are included in the Second Amended Complaint as a protective measure: Because they relate in certain respects to the same underlying conduct challenged by their First, Second, and Third Causes of Action (and the related component of the Twelfth Cause of Action), plaintiffs seek to include



3



  Although plaintiffs do not seek leave to pursue these claims at this time, plaintiffs expressly reserve the right to apply to the Court for leave to pursue these claims in the future.
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them in their Second Amended Complaint in order to avoid any potential argument that a judgment in this action would extinguish these claims under the doctrine of claim preclusion.4 Under these circumstances, plaintiffs respectfully submit that “cause” exists for relief from the stay allowing them to file their proposed Second Amended Complaint, on the understanding that, absent further order from this Court, plaintiffs will prosecute only their First, Second, Third, and Twelfth Causes of Action. Granting leave for plaintiffs to file a complaint containing these additional claims, without prosecuting them further at this time, would allow plaintiffs to avoid a potential claim preclusion defense while imposing no burden on the



@



defendants in this action. As cases interpreting the Bankruptcy Code’s automatic stay provision make clear, “cause” to lift the stay is a “broad and flexible” concept, turning on the “unique facts
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of a particular case.” Buncher Co. v. Flaberg Solar US Corp., 499 B.R. 475, 482-83 (Bankr. W.D. Pa. 2013). If anything, additional flexibility in defining the concept is appropriate with respect to PROMESA’s automatic stay, since in this context the effect of denying stay relief is to foreclose litigation altogether, rather than simply to channel it into the bankruptcy court. But even under the Bankruptcy Code’s automatic stay provision, relief from the stay is warranted, among other situations, when “the stay harms the creditor and lifting the stay will not unduly harm the debtor.” Marder v. Turner (In re Turner), 161 B.R. 1, 3 (Bankr. D. Me. 1993).



4



To be clear, a judgment in an action alleging only claims that are not subject to the PROMESA stay likely would not preclude a subsequent action, filed after the expiration of the stay, alleging claims that were stayed by PROMESA. Although a valid and final judgment on a claim in certain circumstances may bar further litigation between the same parties with respect to the same transaction or occurrence, a second action raising additional legal theories is generally not barred when those theories could not have been pursued in the first action because of limitations on the court’s authority to entertain them. See Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 26(1)(c). Here, plaintiffs seek leave to include their additional causes of action in the Second Amended Complaint in order to avoid any possible ambiguity on this score.
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Because lifting the stay here will impose no harm at all, plaintiffs’ request for relief from the stay should be granted. CONCLUSION Plaintiffs’ motion for leave to amend and for relief from the PROMESA stay should be granted.



October 7, 2016



Respectfully submitted,
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@



/s/ Ramón Rivera Morales J. Ramón Rivera Morales USDC-PR Bar No. 200701 Jiménez, Graffam & Lausell PO Box 366104 San Juan, PR 00936 Telephone: (787) 767-1030 Facsimile: (787) 751-4068 [email protected]



Mark T. Stancil (admitted pro hac vice) Gary A. Orseck (admitted pro hac vice) Ariel N. Lavinbuk (admitted pro hac vice) Donald Burke (admitted pro hac vice) ROBBINS, RUSSELL, ENGLERT, ORSECK UNTEREINER & SAUBER LLP 1801 K Street, NW Washington, D.C. 20006 Telephone: (202) 775-4500 Facsimile: (202) 775-4510 [email protected] [email protected] [email protected] [email protected] Counsel for Plaintiffs
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE: It is hereby certified that on this same date, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system, which will send notification of such filing to counsel of record which are CM/ECF system participants at their corresponding e-mail addresses and which, pursuant to Local Civil Rule 5.1(b)(2), constitutes the equivalent service. //s/ Ramón Rivera Morales J. Ramón Rivera Morales
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